RECEIVED

Jun 12 2026

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

APPEAL FROM HORRY COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS
THE HONORABLE R. KEITH KELLY
CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2023-000969
CIVIL ACTION NO. 2021-CP-26-05377

Unpublished Opinion No. 2026-UP-016
Submitted October 1, 2025 – Filed January 21, 2026
Withdrawn, Substituted, and Refiled May 13, 2026

Terence Sullivan,

PETITIONER,

v.

Ocean 22 Vacation Owners' Association, Inc.,

RESPONDENT.

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI

HOPKINS LAW FIRM, LLC

J. Clay Hopkins (SC Bar No. 102053)
William E. Hopkins, Jr. (SC Bar No. 66474)
12019 Ocean Highway
Post Office Box 1885

QUESTIONS PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- I. Did the Court of Appeals err in holding that Respondent was entitled to immunity under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act by concluding that Respondent complied with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 despite the absence of contemporaneous documentation of workers' compensation coverage, thereby creating a standard inconsistent with this Court's decisions in *Hardee v. McDowell* and *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Construction*?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent, Ocean 22 Vacation Owners Association, Inc. ("Association"), is the owners' association for Hilton Grand Vacations Management, LLC ("Hilton"), a timeshare resort located in Myrtle Beach, South Carolina. Appx. 69-70 ¶¶ 2-7. The Association is a South Carolina nonprofit corporation and does not directly employ workers at the resort. Appx. 69 ¶ 6; *see also* Appx. 70 ¶ 8. Rather, pursuant to a Management Agreement, the Association contracted with Hilton to manage, maintain, and operate the property. Appx. 70 ¶¶ 7-10; *see also* Appx. 218-243.

Under the Management Agreement, Hilton agreed to employ, compensate, supervise, and manage all personnel necessary to operate the resort. Appx. 71 ¶ 12. The Agreement further provided that such personnel would be employees of Hilton and not employees of the Association. *Id.*

Petitioner was employed by Hilton as a bell person at the resort. Appx. 71 ¶ 14. On August 9, 2019, Petitioner sustained injuries after slipping on algae located on a sidewalk at the property.

Appx. 26 ¶ 5. Petitioner subsequently pursued a workers' compensation claim against his direct employer, Hilton, and ultimately resolved that claim through a settlement approved by the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Commission. Appx. 71 ¶ 18.; *see also* Appx. 62–68.

Thereafter, Petitioner filed the underlying civil action against the Association alleging causes of action for premises liability, negligence, gross negligence, and negligent hiring, training, supervision, and retention. Appx. 23–30.

Although the Association acknowledged it was not Petitioner's actual employer and had no direct employees, it moved to dismiss the action, asserting it was entitled to immunity under the South Carolina Workers' Compensation Act (the “Act”) as Petitioner's statutory employer. Appx. 50–243. The Association relied primarily upon the Management Agreement and the fact that Petitioner had received workers' compensation benefits through Hilton. *Id.*

The circuit court granted the Association's motion and dismissed Petitioner's claims, concluding that Petitioner's exclusive remedy arose under the Act. Appx. 244-251.

Petitioner moved for reconsideration and argued, among other things, that the Association failed to establish compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 because it did not produce any documentation demonstrating that workers' compensation coverage existed at the time Hilton was engaged to perform work. The circuit court denied the motion. Appx. 10-22.

Petitioner timely appealed.

On January 21, 2026, the Court of Appeals reversed. Appx. 306-313. The Court held that, "based on the language in the Act as well as case law, that to be entitled to tort immunity as a statutory employer, [Respondent] was required to provide documentation of a workers' compensation insurance policy." *See id.* The Court further noted that the Association admitted it

did not know whether it carried workers' compensation insurance and relied primarily on the fact that Petitioner later settled a workers' compensation claim with Hilton. *Id.*

The Association filed a petition for rehearing. Appx. 314-339. Petitioner submitted a return. Appx. 340-50. The Court of Appeals granted rehearing, withdrew its prior opinion, and issued a substituted opinion on May 13, 2026, affirming the circuit court. Appx. 353-358. In its substituted opinion, the Court held that the Management Agreement, together with Hilton's obligation to comply with applicable law and the subsequent workers' compensation settlement between Petitioner and Hilton, was sufficient to establish compliance with the Workers' Compensation Act. *Id.*

This Petition follows.

The issue presented is whether the Court of Appeals departed from this Court's decisions in *Hardee v. McDowell*, 381 S.C. 445, 673 S.E.2d 813 (2009) and *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Construction*, 383 S.C. 310, 680 S.E.2d 1 (2009) by holding that a management agreement and post-accident workers' compensation settlement constitute sufficient documentation of insurance under S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 despite the absence of any certificate of insurance, ACORD form, carrier verification, or other contemporaneous documentation of coverage.

ARGUMENT

I. The Court of Appeals created a standard for proving compliance with S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 that conflicts with *Hardee* and *Hopper* by holding that a Management Agreement and post-accident settlement agreement constitute sufficient documentation of workers' compensation insurance.¹

Under the statutory employment doctrine, a higher-tier employer may be held liable for work-related injuries to employees hired by a lower-tier employer. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-410 (1985) (stating a "contractor shall be liable to pay to any workman employed in the work [of a subcontractor] any compensation under this Title which he would have been liable to pay if that workman had been immediately employed by him"); *Miller v. Lawrence Robinson Trucking*, 333 S.C. 576, 580, 510 S.E.2d 431, 433 (Ct. App. 1998) ("The concept of statutory employment is designed to protect the employee by assuring workers' compensation coverage by either the subcontractor, the general contractor, or the owner if the work is part of the owner's business.").

The South Carolina Uninsured Employers' Fund (the "Fund") was "created [by the South Carolina Legislature] to ensure payment of workers' compensation benefits to injured employees whose employers have failed to acquire necessary coverage for employees...." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-7-200(A)(1) (Supp.2008).

Section 42-1-415 provides that a contractor may shift liability to the Fund if the contractor obtains adequate proof that the subcontractor had insurance coverage at the time the subcontractor "was engaged to perform work":

¹ As the Court of Appeals January 21, 2026 Opinion correctly noted, this Court need not address Petitioner's argument that the circuit court erred in finding Respondent was his statutory employer under the Act because Petitioner failed to comply with the Act by neglecting to procure workers' compensation insurance. If Petitioner was, in fact, the statutory employer, then it did not comply with the Act's requirement to provide documentation of a worker's compensation policy. If Respondent was not Petitioner's statutory employer, then it would not be eligible for the immunity protections afforded by the Act.

(A) Notwithstanding any other provision of law, upon the submission of documentation to the [C]ommission that a contractor or subcontractor *has represented* himself to a higher tier subcontractor, contractor, or project owner as having workers' compensation insurance *at the time the contractor or subcontractor was engaged to perform work*, the higher tier subcontractor, contractor, or project owner must be relieved of any and all liability under this title except as specifically provided in this section.... The higher tier subcontractor, contractor, project owner, or his insurance carrier may petition the [C]ommission to transfer responsibility for continuing compensation to the Uninsured Employers' Fund....

(B) To qualify for reimbursement under this section, the higher tier subcontractor, contractor, or project owner must collect documentation of insurance as provided in subsection (A) on a standard form acceptable to the [C]ommission. *The documentation must be collected at the time the contractor or subcontractor is engaged to perform work* and must be turned over to the [C]ommission at the time a claim is filed by the injured employee.

S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415(A)-(B) (Supp. 2008) (emphasis added).

However, to transfer liability to the Fund, the higher-tier contractor "must collect documentation of insurance . . . on a standard form acceptable to the commission." The workers' compensation commission has promulgated a regulation providing that a Certificate of Insurance "shall serve as documentation of insurance" and that the Certificate "must be dated, signed, and issued by an authorized representative of the insurance carrier for the insured." S.C. Code Reg. 67-415 (Supp. 2007). In other words, "liability may be transferred from the higher tier contractor to the Fund only after the higher tier contractor has properly documented the subcontractor's claim that it retains workers' compensation insurance. This statutory scheme provides an ultimate safety net for general contractors against a subcontractor's act of fraud." *Barton v. Higgs*, 674 S.E.2d 145, 147, 381 S.C. 367 (2009).

The Court of Appeals' interpretation effectively eliminates Section 42-1-415's documentation requirement. The statute does not relieve a contractor of liability because a subcontractor promises to obtain insurance or because insurance is later shown to have existed. It

requires documentation demonstrating coverage when the subcontractor is engaged to perform work. If a contractual promise were sufficient, every commercial contract containing an insurance procurement clause would satisfy Section 42-1-415, rendering the statute's documentation requirement meaningless.

The Court of Appeals' decision therefore presents an important question regarding what documentation a contractor must obtain to qualify for immunity under South Carolina's Workers' Compensation Act and whether this Court's decisions in *Hardee* and *Hopper* continue to require actual, contemporaneous proof of coverage. At bottom, this case asks whether a contractor may obtain statutory immunity without ever obtaining the very documentation the Legislature required.

In fact, the Court of Appeals correctly noted in its original opinion that Respondent failed to present any evidence of sufficient documentation of a workers' compensation policy other than its Management Agreement with Hilton and the fact that Petitioner reached a workers' compensation settlement with Hilton. However, Respondent's Management Agreement does not comply with the plain language requirements of the Act's documentation requirements.

The documentation of insurance must be on "a standard form acceptable to the commission." S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415(B) (2015). In regulations promulgated in conjunction with section 42-1-415, the workers' compensation commission clarified that "[t]he ACORD Form 25-S, Certificate of Insurance, as issued by the insurance carrier for the insured, is acceptable documentation of insurance, provided the Certificate of Insurance indicates a valid South Carolina address for the insured, is dated, signed and issued by an authorized representative of the insurance carrier for the insured." S.C. Reg. 67-415(A)(2) (2010). Out-of-state employers may also use an ACORD form to verify workers' compensation coverage "provided the authorized representative

of the insurance carrier for the insured affirms the following in an accompanying statement: South Carolina is a named state in section 3A or 3C of the declaration page of the insured's policy." *Id.*

Critically, the Management Agreement does not establish that Hilton actually obtained workers' compensation coverage. At most, it establishes that Hilton contractually agreed to procure such coverage. Those are fundamentally different concepts. The statutory and regulatory scheme does not permit a higher-tier contractor to rely upon a subcontractor's promise to obtain insurance; it requires documentation demonstrating that insurance was actually obtained.

A promise to procure insurance is not proof of insurance. Section 42-1-415 requires documentation that insurance was obtained — not a contractual promise that insurance would be obtained. If it were, neither Section 42-1-415 nor Regulation 67-415 would serve any practical purpose.

There are two (2) South Carolina appellate decisions that firmly contradict the Court of Appeals' finding that the Management Agreement satisfied the Act's documentation requirements.

In *Hardee v. McDowell*, W.D. McDowell was contracted by Smith Construction to work on a library project. 381 S.C. at 447-48, 673 S.E.2d at 814-15. The parties had worked together on a previous project, at which time McDowell provided Smith with a certificate of insurance. *Id.* at 448, 673 S.E.2d at 814. Smith did not seek updated proof of coverage prior to the library project but instead relied upon the earlier certificate. *Id.* at 448, 673 S.E.2d at 814-15. Unbeknownst to Smith, McDowell's insurance was cancelled the day prior to the employee's injury. *Id.* at 448, 673 S.E.2d at 815. The court held that the language in section 42-1-415(A) requiring proof of insurance at the time the contractor is "engaged to perform work" means each time the subcontractor is actually hired to perform work." *Id.* at 453, 673 S.E.2d at 817. "Thus, if a contractor enters into a contract . . . in January and then enters into another contract to hire the subcontractor for a second

job in February, the contractor should verify that the subcontractor still has insurance coverage at the time of the February hiring." *Id.* Because Smith did not check for insurance at the start of the library project, Smith was not eligible to transfer liability to the UEF. *Id.* at 454, 673 S.E.2d at 818.

The deficiency here is even more pronounced than in *Hardee*. In *Hardee*, the contractor possessed at least a Certificate of Insurance issued by an insurance carrier and relied upon that Certificate. 318 S.C. at 454, 673 S.E.2d at 818. The Supreme Court nevertheless held that the contractor failed to satisfy Section 42-1-415 because it did not verify coverage when the subcontractor was later engaged to perform work. *Id.* Here, Respondent possessed no Certificate of Insurance, no ACORD form, no policy information, and no carrier verification whatsoever. If the contractor in *Hardee* could not satisfy Section 42-1-415 with an actual Certificate of Insurance, Respondent cannot satisfy the statute with no certificate, no ACORD form, no carrier verification, and no documentation of coverage whatsoever.

Likewise, *Hopper* squarely forecloses the result reached by the Court of Appeals. In *Hopper*, Terry Hunt Construction (Hunt) was the subcontractor contracted by Kajima USA, Inc. (Kajima). 383 S.C. at 313, 680 S.E.2d at 2. The project took place in South Carolina, but Hunt and Kajima were based in Georgia. *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Const.*, 373 S.C. 475, 478, 646 S.E.2d 162, 164 (Ct. App. 2007). During a previous project that the two worked on together, Hunt provided Kajima with an ACORD form that listed Hunt's insurance policy dates. *Hopper*, 383 S.C. at 313, 680 S.E.2d at 2. In the section entitled "DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS" the project number, subcontract number, and the claim deductible amount appeared. *Id.* The ACORD form presented to Kajima at the start of the Greenwood, South Carolina project, however, lacked key information. Unlike the previous certificate, the second form contained "no information regarding the coverage that the policy provided, the deductible amount, or the project to which the

policy applied." *Id.* at 315, 680 S.E.2d at 3. In addition, the "DESCRIPTION OF OPERATIONS/LOCATIONS" block was blank, and the form showed a policy period that had expired at the time of Claimant's injury. *Id.*

The single commissioner found that the employer could not shift liability to the UEF "because the Certificate of Insurance did not indicate that Hunt had coverage in South Carolina."² *Id.* at 313, 680 S.E.2d at 2. On appeal, the Supreme Court held that because the form provided at the onset of the new project did not include "information regarding the coverage that the policy provided, the deductible amount, or the project to which the policy applied" it was incomplete. *Id.* at 315, 680 S.E.2d at 3. The Court stated, "In failing to fill out the entire [ACORD] Form, Hunt essentially submitted an incomplete document purporting to show that it had a workers' compensation policy, which Kajima accepted. In our view, accepting an incomplete A[CORD] form does not constitute proper documentation." *Id.* The Court further found that Kajima could not rely on the policy because the effective date on the form had expired at the time the employee was injured, stating "a general contractor may not rely upon a Certificate showing an expired worker's compensation policy to show 'documentation' of the subcontractor's workers' compensation insurance." *Id.* at 316-17, 680 S.E.2d at 4.

The Court's reasoning in *Hopper* is fatal to Respondent's position. There, the Supreme Court held that even an ACORD form issued by an insurance carrier was insufficient because it lacked information necessary to establish coverage. Here, Respondent seeks to satisfy the statute with something far less reliable than the incomplete ACORD form rejected in *Hopper*. The Management Agreement was not issued by an insurance carrier, was not a certificate of insurance,

² The full commission agreed, but the circuit court reversed and found no evidence there was coverage only in Georgia. This court reversed the circuit court in *Hopper v. Terry Hunt Construction*, 373 S.C. 475, 646 S.E.2d 162 (Ct. App. 2007).

contained no policy number, identified no insurer, stated no policy period, provided no coverage limits, and did not establish that coverage actually existed. Under *Hopper*, such a document cannot constitute proper documentation as a matter of law.

In this case, The Management Agreement does not meet all the requirements of Regulation 67-415 in that it fails to include any Certificate of Insurance or acceptable documentation of insurance other than Hilton's agreement to procure insurance. In fact, the Management Agreement specifically recites Respondent's requirements under the Act: "If [Respondent] or such other party is the statutory employer of the employees of [Respondent], then [Respondent] or such other party must obtain workers' compensation and employer's liability coverage in satisfaction of the requirements of this Section 4(g)(iii)." Appx. 225. Under Section 4(g)(iii)(4) of the Management Agreement, Respondent specifically agreed that Hilton would "not be required to provide [Respondent] with copies of the applicable policies." *Id.* In fact, Respondent admitted that it was unaware if there was an actual policy at the hearing on the motion to dismiss.

Further, despite the Management Agreement providing that "[u]pon request, either Party shall make to the other a schedule of insurance obtained by such party...listing the policy numbers of insurance obtained, the names of the companies issuing the policies, the brokers or agents used, the names of the parties insured, the amounts of coverage, the expiration date, and the risk covered[,]" Respondent failed to provide the trial court with any information regarding Hilton's procurement of workers' compensation benefits other than the Settlement Agreement and Release between Hilton and Petitioner.

The Settlement Agreement and Release likewise fail to satisfy the Act's documentation procurement requirements. Evidence generated after an accident cannot satisfy Section 42-1-415's requirement that documentation be obtained when the subcontractor was "engaged to perform

work." The statute focuses upon what the higher-tier contractor knew and documented at the time it engaged the subcontractor — not what may later be discovered through litigation or administrative proceedings years afterward.

Allowing a post-injury settlement agreement to satisfy the statute would fundamentally alter the statutory scheme. Nothing in the Settlement Agreement and Release demonstrates what information Respondent possessed at the time Hilton was engaged to perform work, which is the inquiry mandated by Section 42-1-415. Under such a rule, a contractor could ignore the documentation requirements entirely and later attempt to reconstruct proof of coverage after an employee is injured. That result is irreconcilable with *Hardee* and *Hopper*, both of which emphasize contemporaneous verification of coverage.

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