**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT**

Appeal from Horry County
Court of Common Pleas
R. Keith Kelly, Circuit Court Judge

Case No. 2021-CP-26-05377

Court of Appeals Case No. 2023-000969
Unpublished Opinion No. 2026-UP-016 (S.C. Ct. App. filed May 13, 2026)

Supreme Court Case No. 2026-001329

Terence Sullivan,

Petitioner,

v.

Ocean 22 Vacation Owners' Association, Inc.,

Respondent.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

CLEMENT RIVERS, LLP
Stephen L. Brown (SC Bar No. 66468)
Edward D. Buckley Jr. (SC Bar No. 994)
Nicholas J. Rivera (SC Bar No. 77186)
Russell G. Hines (SC Bar No. 72100)
25 Calhoun Street, Suite 400
Charleston, South Carolina 29401

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

¹⁵ (*See* Br. of Appellant.)

¹⁶ *Fields*, 312 S.C. at 106, 439 S.E.2d at 285 (if an issue is not argued in the brief, it is deemed abandoned); *id.* at n.3 (“[A]n appellant may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in his brief in chief.”).

And because it is an independent basis for affirmance of the circuit court's finding that the Association is Mr. Sullivan's statutory employer, affirmance of the circuit court's finding that the Association is Mr. Sullivan's statutory employer is required by the two issue rule. *Id.* at 328, 730 S.E.2d at 284 ("Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.") (quoting *Jones v. Lott*, 387 S.C. 339, 346, 692 S.E.2d 900, 903 (2010), abrogated on other grounds by *Repko v. County of Georgetown*, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743 (2018)). Further still, the Court of Appeals' affirmance of the circuit court on this issue is also above reproach because Mr. Sullivan did not raise the issue to the Court of Appeals in a petition for rehearing. *Mazloom*, 392 S.C. at 403–04, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (declining to address an issue not raised in the petition for rehearing); *id.* at 404, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (noting an issue not raised in the petition for rehearing is the law of the case). So, in other words, Mr. Sullivan cannot possibly prevail on this issue now.

In any event, however, the circuit court correctly rejected Mr. Sullivan's argument on the merits, as Mr. Sullivan was plainly mistaken in claiming that the "resort business" is separate from the Association's business.

In support of this argument, Mr. Sullivan quoted the following language from the Declaration:

Management of the Hotel Interests shall be independent of the management of the other Vacation Ownership Interests to the greatest extent practically and economically feasible, provided, however, this requirement does not contemplate any prohibition or restriction on the use of personnel hired to regularly furnish materials and services for the Hotel Interests in the Project and to furnish the same or similar services to the other Vacation Ownership Interests. Such use of common personnel shall not imply that the Hotel Interests and Vacation Ownership Interests are under common management.

(Br. of Appellant p. 4 (quoting R. pp. 86-87 § 6.1) (emphasis added by Mr. Sullivan omitted).)¹⁷

It is clear from Mr. Sullivan's reliance on the above-quoted language that he misunderstood the Declaration and, as a result, labored under the erroneous belief that the "resort" is only the "Hotel Interests" in the "Project," with the "Vacation Ownership Interests" in the "Project" being somehow separate from the "resort." What Mr. Sullivan failed to understand is that the "Project" is the "resort" and the "resort" is the "Project." In other words, the "Project" and the "resort" are one and the same, and just as the "Vacation Ownership Interests" *in* the "Project" are, obviously, a part of the "Project," so, too, are they a part of the "resort." (*See* R. p. 82 § 2.56 (defining the "Project" as all real property and improvements thereon submitted to the terms of the Declaration and the South Carolina Timeshare Act); R. p. 83 § 4.1 ("Declarant hereby submits the Project, including but not limited to, the property, the buildings and all other improvements associated with the Project to the provisions of this Declaration and the Timeshare Act creating a Timeshare Plan. All of said Project is and shall be held, conveyed, hypothecated, encumbered, leased, subleased, rented, used and improved as a vacation ownership (timeshare) undivided interest project."); R. p. 82 § 2.53 (defining "Owner" as "[a]ny person or entity . . . owning an Ownership Interest within the Project."); R. p. 82 § 2.54 (defining "Ownership Interest" as "[a] Vacation Ownership Interest."); R. p. 82 § 2.68 (defining "Vacation Ownership Interest or Ownership Interest" as "[a]n undivided interest in a Phase of the Project together with (i) a membership in the Club, (ii) membership in the Association, and (iii) a recurring right (either annually or biennially) to occupy and use, on an exclusive basis as described hereinafter, a Suite in the Project in accordance with, and subject to, the

¹⁷ The Association would note that, in the Declaration, the language that Mr. Sullivan quoted is immediately preceded by the following language explaining what is meant by "Hotel Interests:" "Declarant shall have the right to use and operate the Vacation Support Areas and Vacation Ownership Interests it owns as a hotel available to the public for nightly occupancy ('Hotel Interests')." (R. pp. 86-87 § 6.1.)

terms of this Declaration and the Project Documents.”); R. p. 78 § 2.14 (defining “Club Member” as “[a]n Owner at the Project and/or an Affiliated Resort”); R. p. 80 § 2.37 (defining “Home Resort” as “[t]he Affiliated Resort at which a Club Member owns an ownership interest.”); *see also* R. P. 69 ¶ 3 (“[Hilton] is a publically traded corporation which develops, manages, markets, and operates timeshare and vacation club ownership *resorts* whereby the [Hilton] properties are jointly owned by individual purchasers giving them use of the club properties for limited periods of time.”) (emphasis added); R. p. 70 ¶ 10 (“[T]he Association entered into a management agreement with [Hilton] on October 25, 2013.”); R. p. 70 ¶ 11 (“Under the terms of the management agreement, [Hilton] would ‘manage and operate the Project in accordance with the same practices and standards utilized in the management of other Hilton Grand Vacation Club projects’ and ‘maintain and repair the Project to a first class *resort* standard.’”) (emphasis added).)

As the circuit court duly recognized in the Order of Dismissal, “[t]he operation of the [Hilton] *Resort*, on behalf of the time-share owners, is the Association’s sole business, and the work being performed by [Hilton, i.e., Mr. Sullivan’s direct employer] was essential to its operation.”

Here, the business of the Association is governed by the Declarations and is performed in its entirety by [Mr. Sullivan’s] direct employer. The Association hired [Mr. Sullivan’s direct employer] to manage, operate, and administer the [Hilton] *Resort*. The Association instructed [Mr. Sullivan’s direct employer] to hire and employ all employees necessary for the operation of the [Hilton] *Resort* and empowered it to perform all necessary duties. The operation of the [Hilton] *Resort*, on behalf of the time-share owners, is the Association’s sole business, and the work being performed by [Mr. Sullivan’s direct employer] was essential to its operation. [Mr. Sullivan’s direct employer] acts in every respect on behalf of the Association, employing [Mr. Sullivan] to perform certain duties essential to the operation of the [Hilton] *Resort*. Therefore, the Association is the [Mr. Sullivan’s] statutory employer. Furthermore, as pointed out by authorities cited by the Association, the South Carolina Workers’ Compensation

Commission has held that *resort* subcontractors' work constitutes part of the *resort* operator's trade, business or occupation.

(R. p. 6 (emphasis added).)

Mr. Sullivan did not meet his burden to demonstrate reversible with respect to the finding that the Association is Mr. Sullivan's statutory employer, as the Court of Appeals correctly found.

2. Mr. Sullivan did not meet his burden to demonstrate reversible error with respect to the finding that, as his statutory employer, the Association is immune from tort liability to Mr. Sullivan.

As an initial matter, the Court of Appeals correctly found in its May 13, 2026, opinion that Mr. Sullivan had not preserved his argument in this regard for review. Mr. Sullivan's argument to the Court of Appeals was that "[t]he trial court erred in holding *Harrell* controlled and ignoring the Supreme Court's precedent in *Poch v. Bayshore Concrete Products/South Carolina, Inc.*, which requires statutory employers to procure worker's compensation insurance." (Br. of Appellant p. 5 (bold print in original omitted).) But before the circuit court Mr. Sullivan's counsel expressly argued that *Harrell* (incorrectly referred to in the transcript as "Harold") applied,¹⁸ and accordingly, Mr. Sullivan could not argue to the contrary on appeal. *TNS Mills, Inc. v. S.C. Dep't of Revenue*, 331 S.C. 611, 617, 503 S.E.2d 471, 474 (1998) ("An issue conceded in a lower court may not be argued on appeal.").

Moreover, having only argued *Harrell* to the circuit court, Mr. Sullivan never argued *Poch* to the circuit court, and accordingly, he lost the ability to argue that the circuit court erred by ignoring *Poch*. *Elam*, 361 S.C. at 23, 602 S.E.2d at 779–80 ("Issues and *arguments* are preserved for appellate review only when they are raised to and ruled on by the lower court.") (emphasis added); *Erickson v. Jones St. Publishers, LLC*, 368 S.C. 444, 476, 629 S.E.2d 653,

¹⁸ (R. p. 45:19–46:17.)

670 (2006). (“[A] party may not complain on appeal of error or object to a trial procedure which his own conduct has induced.”).

Further still, and in any event, here again, the Court of Appeals’ affirmance of the circuit court on this issue is also above reproach because Mr. Sullivan did not raise the issue to the Court of Appeals in a petition for rehearing. *Mazloom*, 392 S.C. at 403–04, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (declining to address an issue not raised in the petition for rehearing); *id.* at 404, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (noting an issue not raised in the petition for rehearing is the law of the case). Nor, for that matter, has Mr. Sullivan argued in his instant petition to this Court that the Court of Appeals erred in finding his argument unpreserved. The Court of Appeals’ May 13, 2026, opinion expressly finds that “any argument [by Mr. Sullivan] that the Association did not satisfy the requirements of 42-1-415 is abandoned,” and this being the law of the case, Mr. Sullivan cannot possibly prevail in arguing that the Association did not satisfy the requirements of § 42-1-415. And to be clear, Mr. Sullivan’s contention about the Court of Appeals having supposedly created a problematic standard for proving § 42-1-415 compliance cannot possibly be correct because, as an unpublished decision, the Court of Appeals’ May 13, 2026, opinion has no precedential value. Rule 268(d)(2), SCACR (“Memorandum opinions and unpublished orders have no precedential value and should not be cited except in proceedings in which they are directly involved.”)

In any event, however, the circuit court correctly rejected the argument that Mr. Sullivan made below on the merits, as the Court of Appeals correctly found. Pointing to “South Carolina precedent that ha[s] consistently interpreted statutory employer liability as providing ‘double protection’ for employees,”¹⁹ Mr. Sullivan argued to the circuit court that, even if the Association was correctly found to be his statutory employer, to avail itself of immunity from tort liability a

¹⁹ (R. p. 250; *see also* R. p. 45:19–46:17 (relying on what was transcribed as “Harold,” i.e., *Harrell*).)

statutory employer had to secure the payment of workers' compensation. And the circuit court correctly determined that Mr. Sullivan's argument did not account for—and was undermined by—the legislature's enactment and subsequent amendment of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415, as explained as follows in *Harrell's* progeny, *Glover v. U.S.*:

[P]rior to the enactment and amendment of S.C. Code § 42-1-415 (Supp.1998), the fact that the immediate employer had properly secured the payment of compensation did not remove the statutory employer's obligation under the Act. As observed by this Court in Harrell, the Act imposed a scheme where the owner and the immediate employer were subjected to the requirements of the Act, and the employees received "double protection." See Long v. Atlantic Homes, 311 S.C. 237, 428 S.E.2d 711 (1993); Parker v. Williams and Madjanik, Inc., 275 S.C. 65, 267 S.E.2d 524 (1980).

Finally, we noted in *Harrell* that our conclusion on this point was supported by the enactment and subsequent amendment of S.C. Code Ann. § 42-1-415 (Supp.1998). *Under section 42-1-415, as amended, a statutory employer no longer needs to secure the payment of compensation to avail itself of tort immunity under the Act, if the requirements of section 42-1-415 are met.*

337 S.C. 307, 311, 523 S.E.2d 763, 764-65 (1999) (emphasis added); *see also Harrell*, 337 S.C. at 330, 523 S.E.2d at 775 (explaining that, "[t]he result [of § 42-1-415(A) and (D)] is that a statutory employer need not secure the payment of compensation to avail itself of tort immunity under the Act, if the requirements of section 42-1-415 are met") (emphasis added).^{20 21}

²⁰ To be clear, the result in both *Harrell* and *Glover* (that the statutory employer did have to secure payment of workers' compensation in order to claim tort immunity) was driven by the fact that the cases were decided under the law that applied prior to passage of § 42-1-415 and its 1997 amendment. *Glover*, 337 S.C. at 311, 523 S.E.2d at 765 ("As in *Harrell*, the important implication for this case is that prior to the passage of section 42-1-415 and its 1997 amendment, a statutory employer, in order to claim tort immunity under the Act, was required to secure the payment of compensation as prescribed by section 42-5-20. *See Vernon v. Harleysville Mut. Cas. Co.*, 244 S.C. 152, 135 S.E.2d 841 (1964) (in adopting an amendment to a statute, the legislature is presumed to have intended to make some change in existing law).") (emphasis added).

²¹ Regarding Mr. Sullivan's citation to *Poch* for the proposition that "section 42-1-415 . . . 'applies only in cases involving reimbursement from the Uninsured Employer's Fund . . .'" (Br. of

And as for whether the requirements of § 42-1-415 are met here, the circuit court ruled that Mr. Sullivan had waived any argument that they were not. (R. p. 19.) And again, having not challenged this ruling in his principal brief,²² Mr. Sullivan has abandoned any potential challenge to it,²³ which means it is an unappealed ruling and, thus, the law of the case, as the Court of Appeals correctly found in its May 13, 2026, opinion. *Atl. Coast Builders*, 398 S.C. at 329, 730 S.E.2d at 285 (“[A]n unappealed ruling, right or wrong, is the law of the case.”). And because it is an independent basis for affirmance of the circuit court’s finding that the requirements of § 42-1-415 are met here, affirmance of the circuit court’s finding that the requirements of § 42-1-415 are met here is required by the two issue rule. *Id.* at 328, 730 S.E.2d at 284 (“Under the two issue rule, where a decision is based on more than one ground, the appellate court will affirm unless the appellant appeals all grounds because the unappealed ground will become law of the case.”) (quoting *Jones*, 387 S.C. at 346, 692 S.E.2d at 903, abrogated on other grounds by *Repko*, 424 S.C. 494, 818 S.E.2d 743); *see also Mazloom*, 392 S.C. at 403–04, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (declining to address an issue not raised in the petition for

Appellant pp. 6–7), besides the fact that, as explained above, Mr. Sullivan never made such an argument to the circuit court, the *Poch* Court did not refer to the whole of § 42-1-415 as applying only in cases involving reimbursement from the Uninsured Employer’s Fund but rather specifically to subsection (B) of § 42-1-415. *Poch*, 405 S.C. at 379, 747 S.E.2d at 768 (“[W]e find Petitioners’ reliance on section *42-1-415(B)* misplaced as that provision applies only in cases involving reimbursement from the Uninsured Employer’s Fund”) (emphasis added). The subsections of § 42-1-415 on which *Harrell* and, in turn, *Glover* rely are (A), which is not limited to cases involving reimbursement from the Uninsured Employer’s Fund and expressly applies “[n]otwithstanding any other provision of law” to “relieve[] [the statutory employer] of any and all *liability under this title* except as specifically provided in this section” (emphasis added) and (D), which expressly provides that “nothing in this section shall be construed to abrogate the immunity to tort liability of any” statutory employer.

²² (See Br. of Appellant.)

²³ *Fields*, 312 S.C. at 106, 439 S.E.2d at 285 (if an issue is not argued in the brief, it is deemed abandoned); *id.* at n.3 (“[A]n appellant may not use the reply brief to argue issues not argued in his brief in chief.”).

rehearing); *id.* at 404, 709 S.E.2d at 661 (noting an issue not raised in the petition for rehearing is the law of the case).

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